
 

 

Enterprise and Business Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 3 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 

11 March 2015  

 

Meeting time: 

09.15 

 

For further information please contact:  

Marc Wyn Jones 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565 

SeneddEcon@Assembly.Wales  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

Pre-meeting (09.15-09.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2 Business Rates Policy - Federation of Small Businesses (09.30-10.30) 

(Pages 1 - 18)  

Iestyn Davies, Head of External Affairs (Devolved Nations), Federation of Small 

Businesses 

Josh Miles, Policy Advisor, Federation of Small Businesses 

 

Attached Documents:  

Research Brief 

Break (10.30-10.40) 

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

3 Business Rates Policy - Ministerial Scrutiny (10.40-11.40)  

(Pages 19 - 20)  

Edwina Hart, Minister for Economy, Science and Transport 

Tracey Burke, Director of Strategy, Department for Economy, Science and Transport 

Chris Sutton, Chair of the Business Rates Panel 

 

Attached Documents:  

EBC(4)-07-15 (p.1) Minister for Economy, Science and Transport 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the public 

from the remainder of the meeting.   

De-brief (11.40-11.50) 

5 Draft Report on Assisting Young People into Work (11.50-12.00) 

(Pages 21 - 93) 

 

Attached Documents:  

Draft report on Assisting Young People into Work 

6 Forward Work Programme (12.00-12.15) (Pages 94 - 95) 

 

Attached Documents:  

Summer Forward Work Programme 2015 

7 Papers to note   

 

7.1 Letter from Jane Hutt to William Graham regarding Business Rates Policy   

(Pages 96 - 97)  

 

Attached Documents:  

EBC(4)-07-15 (p.2) Letter from Jane Hutt to William Graham regarding Business Rates 

Policy 

 

7.2 Written submission from the Welsh Retail Consortium  (Pages 98 - 99)  

 

Attached Documents:  

EBC(4)-07-15 (p.3) Welsh Retail Consortium - Rates in Wales 



 

 

 

7.3 The British Retail Consortium (BRC) response to the administration of business 

rates in England (interim findings)  (Pages 100 - 107)  

 

Attached Documents:  

EBC(4)-07-15 (p.4) The British Retail Consortium (BRC) response to the 

administration of business rates in England (interim findings) 

 

7.4 Summary of the rapporteur visits 12 February 2015  (Pages 108 - 111)  

 

Attached Documents:  

EBC(4)-07-15 (p.5) Summary of rapporteur visits 12 February 

 

7.5 Letter from The Older People's Commissioner for Wales to William Graham 

regarding the Older People's Skills Strategy  (Pages 112 - 113)  

 

Attached Documents:  

EBC(4)-07-15 (p.6) Letter from the Older People's Commissioner for Wales to William 

Graham regarding the Older People's Skills Strategy 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Enterprise and Business Committee 

Business Rates 

Paper from the Minister for Economy, Science and Transport 

 
 
Purpose of this paper 
 

1. This paper is to set out the current position on business rates policy in Wales 
with reference to ministerial responsibilities across the Welsh Government.  

 
Business Rates Responsibilities in the Welsh Government 
 

2. As Minister for Economy, Science and Transport, I am responsible for 

business rates policy in Wales including the relationship between business 

rates and economic development.  

 

3. Matters regarding the operational aspects of business rates including the 

collection of rates and the work of the Valuation Office Agency are for the 

Minister for Public Services. Matters regarding the financial arrangements for 

the devolution of business rates to Wales including the negotiations with the 

UK Government on the final settlement arrangements are for the Minister for 

Finance.  

 

The Business Rates Panel Report, ‘The Devolution of Business Rates to Wales’ 

 

4. I established the Business Rates Panel in 2014, to examine the range of 

recommendations produced by the Business Rates Task and Finish Group 

and to consider a strategic approach to business rates following devolution. 

The Panel submitted its report in February. This has been shared with 

Assembly Members and I have invited comments on the report. The report is 

available on-line at: 

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/businessandeconomy/policy/business-

rates/?lang=en 

 

Pack Page 19

Agenda Item 3

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/businessandeconomy/policy/business-rates/?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/businessandeconomy/policy/business-rates/?lang=en


5. The report includes 13 recommendations on key issues and sets out a 

strategic approach with proposed actions for the short, medium and longer 

term. Some of the key points are: 

 
a. That there is a need for stability in the regime in the short term, 

b. That the devolution of business rates presents us with an opportunity to 

align the regime in a way that reflects policy but that business rates 

should not be considered to be a panacea, 

c. Changes to business rates come at a cost and that this cost can be 

significant. The Panel notes that business rates has an important role 

to play in funding vital public services and that decisions about 

changes to the system will need to take this into account, 

d. That there is a benefit to retaining some alignment with the regime in 

England, and that a high bar should be set for changes to the system in 

Wales, 

e. The Panel has recommended a comprehensive review of rate reliefs 

and exemptions in the medium term, 

f. In the longer term and following local authority mergers, the Panel has 

recommended that consideration be given to local rates retention. 

 

4. Next Steps 

I look forward to hearing the Committee’s views on the recommendations of 

this report.  I will set out a timetable for future action to develop the right 

regime for Wales.  

Pack Page 20



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 94

Agenda Item 6



Pack Page 96

Agenda Item 7.1



Pack Page 97



 

 
Business Rates – Investing in the future of Welsh Communities 

There is broad consensus that the business rates system is woefully out of date. The current system 

disincentivises investment in property and this has had a seriously detrimental impact on our town 

centres and high streets and restricted consumer choice. We believe the time is right to develop a 

new tax that encourages businesses in Wales to invest and create jobs, supports the regeneration of 

communities, serves consumers well and ensures a stable and equitable tax contribution from 

business to Government. 

Retail pays approximately a quarter of all business rates in Wales contributing over £237 million to 

the non-domestic ratings pool. Total Wales business rates take is £910 million. 

When business rates were introduced in 1990 the rate was set at 34.8 per cent but the average of 

the rates at each of the last revaluations is 42.1 per cent.  The current rate in Wales is 47.3 per cent. 

An increasing proportion of business taxation is therefore contributed through a fixed tax which, 

unlike other taxes, does not vary to reflect business profitability, ability to pay or broader economic 

conditions. 

Across the UK every one per cent change in the vacancy rate is 50,000 jobs.  Our high streets are 

seeing increases in vacancy rates which currently stand at over 14%.  Fifty per cent of leases are up 

for renewal in the next three years. 

For every £1 in corporation tax retailers pay £2.31 in business rates, compared to £1 to 44p for other 

industries.  If rates had grown in line with RPI over the last decade they would now be £2bn pa 

lower. 

It is important for the Welsh Government to ensure that business rates reform, including retention 

or expansion of reliefs does not add unnecessary cost and complexity upon full devolution in April 

2015.  

We have the opportunity to show that Wales is ‘Open for Business’ by taking an innovative 

approach to our rates system, one which is an investment enabler rather than one that penalises 

growth and job creation. 

Avoid unnecessary and counter-productive sectoral supplements 

Targeting a single part of a single sector inevitably sends out the wrong signals to existing and 

potential investors.  Any such proposals are short-sighted and counter-productive and should be 

avoided by the Welsh Government.  Wales should avoid the self-inflicted damage that Scotland 

(£35m a year) and Northern Ireland (£7m a year) have got themselves into with their larger retailer 

levies. 

 

 

Pack Page 98

Agenda Item 7.2



 

 
Inflation linked uplifts must be addressed 

The WRC encourages the Welsh Government to review annual RPI Uplifts and switch to a more 

proportionate measure of inflation which better reflects the economic conditions faced by retailers, 

such as CPI. 

Local Incentivisation  

WRC supports business rate reforms which will give local authorities greater responsibility for their 

finances including initiatives that are designed to give local authorities greater incentives to raise the 

finance they need through economic growth and investment. However, consistency in approaches 

across local authorities is important meaning it is both sensible and practical for the poundage rate 

to be set centrally. The temptation to increase business rates to make up for budget shortfalls may 

be tempting for some local authorities, which could have harmful impacts on local business and 

employment. Incentivisation must encourage genuine business growth 

Local authority independence must not be merely an exercise in revenue maximisation, where local 

authorities take a heavy handed and punitive approach to rates enforcement while doing little to 

grow their business base. The basic structure of reform should ensure any growth in business rates 

within a borough should help stimulate further growth in the form of key investments. 

Small Business Rates Relief 

The WRC supports the principle behind the original SBRR scheme which was designed to counter the 

disproportionately high impact that business rates have on small businesses.  However, the WRC is 

keen to ensure that the SBRR scheme is appropriately and sustainably funded and does not add 

additional costs to non-qualifying businesses. 

It is our recommendation that following full devolution a fundamental review of rates is agreed, with 

the aim of unleashing investment and creating jobs, enabling successful re-invention of our high 

streets, creating a 21st century competitive tax system and to support other industrial investment. 

Our 4 Principles for fundamental reform  
 
1. A reduced burden that will drive positive business investment and support economic growth 
2. The yield from the tax should rise and fall in line with the underlying measure 
3. Business rates should be more equitably distributed to take account of different industry 
contributions to the economy 
4. The system should include incentives to drive positive behaviours 

Pack Page 99



1 
 

 
 

The British Retail Consortium (BRC) response to the administration of 

business rates in England (interim findings) 

 

Thursday 26 February 2015 

 

This paper sets out the British Retail Consortium’s views on business rates reform and puts forward 

the industry’s feedback on the relevant consultation questions. 

 

About the BRC 

The BRC is the lead trade association for the entire retail industry. Diverse and exciting, our industry 

spans large multiples, independents, high streets and out of town, from online to bricks and mortar, 

selling goods across all industries from clothing, footwear, food and homeware to electronics, health 

& beauty, jewellery and everything in between, to increasingly discerning consumers. Our mission is 

to make a positive difference to our industry by advancing vibrant and consumer-focused retail. We 

stand for what is important to the industry and work in partnership with our members to shape 

debates and influence outcomes. We work with the Government to ensure a competitive market 

which creates the right conditions for growth and innovation, we champion great careers and we 

promote responsible retail’s vital role in the community. 

Structural reform 

The BRC welcomes the Government’s commitment to both administrative and structural reform of 

business rates in England. We view both initiatives as critical to ensuring retail and other industries 

are taxed fairly and equitably, ensuring investment is incentivised benefiting business and the 

economy more broadly.  

Business rates are the highest commercial property tax in the European Union and one of the 

highest in the OECD, which is why there is broad support amongst the business community for 

fundamental reform of the system as announced by Chancellor George Osborne in last year’s 

Autumn Statement.  

As the structural review progresses, it should aim to ensure that the business rates system is made 

fit for purpose for a 21st century economy. The potential scope for error in a new system of local 

taxation means that any new system will need to be thoroughly researched and tested. Businesses 

will judge the credibility of the review on how rigorously it assesses the options for making local 

business taxation: 

 Fairer to businesses across the UK; 

 Internationally competitive; 

 Flexible enough to respond to the economic cycle and both their national and local impacts; 

 Free of the perverse incentives of the current system – particularly for businesses to invest. 

Pack Page 100

Agenda Item 7.3



2 
 

 We believe the review should seek authoritative and independent analysis as it progresses, 

with recommendations for change developed after looking at alternative systems. Objective 

consideration of supporting evidence will be required. 

 We note the intention of the Government to maintain ‘fiscal neutrality’ through any proposed 

change. While we appreciate that the revenue impact must be a consideration for the review, 

we are concerned that a narrow definition of fiscal neutrality would have the effect of 

prematurely narrowing the review’s terms of reference, and subsequently undermining its 

credibility.   

Given the complexity and importance of the issue we encourage government to ensure that a 

structural review leaves everything on the table to ensure central government, local government and 

business objectives are achieved. However, in the interim there are short-term steps as outlined as 

part of the administration review that can be implemented relatively easily.  

The BRC encourages the Government to continue moving forward with the reform of the 

administration of business rates to ensure they are implemented more fairly to help ensure the 

business environment is hospitable for employers. 

Key questions 

 

1) What are your views on the findings and analysis at Annex A on the impact of more 

frequent revaluations? 

The BRC strongly supports more frequent valuations, and we consider that this goal should be 

progressed as a matter of urgency. Page 9 of the Government’s interim response correctly 

acknowledges “that more frequent revaluations would make rates bills more responsive to relative 

changes in the property market.” It comes down to the basic conclusion based on the Valuation 

Office Agency’s (VOA) analysis “that more frequent revaluations could improve fairness in the rating 

system by ensuring bills reflect relative changes in rental values”. 

The response also states that “some properties whose rents have fallen by less than the average 

could see their rates bill increase” and that may seem unfair. However, this is presently the case 

within the current system and in fact is a huge source of frustration as ratepayers are locked into the 

consequences for five or more years.  

It is recognised that movements in property values are cyclical and that it cannot be guaranteed the 

valuation process will take place at the ‘right’ moment to reflect a particular trend in the property 

market. However, more frequent valuations are preferred because presently there is no guarantee 

of an accurate assessment set at the valuation before being locked into a five year or more 

valuation. The estimated rental value is dependent upon the point in the cycle at which the valuation 

takes place but with greater frequency this is still preferable to the current method, which relies on 

substantially outdated information. The retail sector in particular is especially sensitive to recession 

meaning more frequent revaluations should adjust to the current economic circumstances 

ratepayers are facing. 

It is recognised that more frequent valuations would result in adjustments to business rates liability 

more often. However, this is preferred to the inherent unfairness of the current system, as retailers 

are likely to experience an overall reduction in the degree of volatility with more frequent 

revaluations. This is because changes are likely to be smaller year on year, thus avoiding the large 

increases in business rates liability that can occur every five or more years under the current 

Pack Page 101



3 
 

system. It is also worth noting that business rates already fluctuate for businesses on an annual 

basis due to the adjustment to the multiplier based on the previous September’s RPI, as well as 

accounting for loss of appeals and small business rate relief.  

We understand a number of respondents have suggested a range of different possible increases in 

the frequency of valuations, which would increase the accuracy and responsiveness of the system. 

The fundamentally important point is that more frequent valuations are more equitable, and that 

they should be conducted as often as practical. We have stated the eventual outcome should be to 

have revaluations on an annual basis, but there is scope for the Government to conduct further 

analysis for a range of different frequencies factoring intended and unintended consequences. It is 

likely any move to more frequent valuations would require a steady transition period to avoid 

unintended consequences. 

 

2) How do you think more frequent revaluations would affect your business/local authority? 

More frequent revaluations would underpin a fairer approach. Greater frequency in the revaluation 

process should mean each property pays a bill based upon a rateable value that is as close to 

actual value as is possible – whereas under the present system property values can be nine years 

out of date by the time at which business rates liability is realigned. More frequent valuations make 

the tax responsive to the actual state of the property market and would be likely to have economic 

advantages by reducing the disproportionate burden of taxation on businesses in economic 

downturns. More frequent revaluations would certainly lead to fewer appeals as there would be less 

reason or incentive to do so. Fewer appeals based on more frequent revaluations have been 

observed in countries like the Netherlands and Hong Kong. 

More frequent valuations would require retailers to operate with more flexibility to take account of 

the more frequent change in valuation. This will require culture change within businesses, local 

authorities and the VOA, but this is very much possible and preferable to retailers as it would lead to 

a more equitable, efficient system where values are more in line with market fluctuations.  

On page 13 of the Government’s interim response it is noted local government has expressed 

concerns that more frequent valuations would make rates income more difficult to forecast creating 

uncertainty for funding public services. Firstly, in response, it is clear that the existing system 

already creates uncertainty at times of current revaluation (every 5-7 years) but local authorities 

have been able to plan accordingly. Protections are currently in place to avoid local authorities 

being especially hard hit by a reduction in business rates within their particular area. More frequent 

valuations would lead to more certainty because there would be fewer appeals and fewer significant 

fluctuations. Secondly, it is important that the impact of business rates on those paying the tax is not 

overlooked. Bills are already at the upper tolerance level for retailers of all sizes. For instance, the 

UK imposes among the highest property taxes in the EU1 and OECD.2 Successful local authorities 

recognise the value of investing in business friendly approaches which encourage present 

ratepayers to stay and expand, and encourage others to locate there – as a result increasing their 

overall tax take. 

 

 

                                                           
1
 Taxation trends in the European Union, Eurostat, 

http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_structur
es/2014/report.pdf 
2
 Revenue Statistics 2014, OECD, http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-policy/revenue-statistics-19963726.htm 

Pack Page 102



4 
 

3) Running a revaluation presents costs for ratepayers, as well as central and local 

government. What are your views on how these costs can be managed? 

 

Our view is that it is vitally important that any move to greater frequency should be accompanied by 

other improvement measures. A focus on better quality valuations for the largest properties coupled 

with modernisation of billing and administration would deliver significant benefits which would help 

to offset any resulting costs. The increase in ‘quick fixes’ which has, over time, added further 

complexity demonstrates the importance of implementing both administration and structural 

business rates reform. 

Removing the smallest hereditaments in England – for example those with rateable values below 

£12,000 – from the financial and administrative burden of business rates would have a net positive 

economic effect. This band contributes just 9.1 per cent of business rates, but because of the Small 

Business Rate Relief (SBRR) it pays a smaller amount around 6 per cent. Reforming the system so 

that properties below the rateable value of £12,000 are removed from the burden of business rates 

would substantially reduce the costs of administration and therefore avoid unnecessarily raising the 

burden for remaining ratepayers. It may also be worth exploring whether a transitional rate for 

properties valued above £12,000 is practical to avoid an unnecessary cliff edge. 

 

4) What are your views on how the gap between the valuation date and the date on which the 

rating list starts could be reduced, while still ensuring the accuracy of the rating list? 

Reducing the number of assessments as we propose should significantly improve the process, but it 

will require some investment in the system. However, it would be expected that the time between 

the valuation date and the date on which the rating list starts would be appropriately reduced. This 

is a positive trade-off acceptable to business caused by more frequent valuations.  

 

Valuations would naturally be more accurate the more often they are conducted. The current two 

years between the valuation and the date the revaluation comes into effect illustrates the need for 

more frequent revaluations. The two years required under the current system to ensure accuracy of 

the rating list is the result of valuation taking place every five or more years.  

 

5) If the government made it easier for ratepayers to check or seek changes to a property’s 

rateable value through informal routes, would this be likely to reduce the number of formal 

challenges? 

More information is needed on the proposed informal routes, but alternative routes would likely 

reduce the need for formal challenges. An informal route could lead to reasoned commercial 

decisions being made on the merits of an appeal by providing greater transparency as to the way in 

which the property has been assessed. Improved availability of additional information would support 

this process. At the same time, the BRC believes a more substantive approach to reduce 

challenges is to have more frequent valuations. More frequent valuations decrease the incentive to 

challenge and appeal decisions. 

 

Conversations and the availability of data between the VOA and ratepayers are needed which 

include details of how the valuation was determined before publishing the rating list. If productive 

engagement does not take place before the publication of the rating list a formal appeals process is 

more likely to be required. 

 

Pack Page 103



5 
 

The current level of service between ratepayers and the VOA is inconsistent. This may be caused 

by VOA personnel being under resourced to effectively engage with ratepayers meaning there may 

be scope for an additional tier of service, which could assist ratepayers with sharing basic 

information enabling valuation officers to carry out non-administrative work.  

 

6) If the government asked for more information from ratepayers or levied a charge as part of 

the formal appeal process would this lead to a more efficient system? 

No, the substantial amount already levied on businesses should be more than sufficient to result in 

an efficient appeals system. Rather than penalising those businesses who believe there is a valid 

reason to appeal the BRC recommends more frequent and quality valuations to reduce the 

attractiveness of an appeal in the first place. There is not a substantive reason ratepayers should 

have to appeal a decision to receive straight forward clarification of information from the VOA. 

Instead new processes should be implemented so that information is adequately shared to avoid 

unnecessary appeals. The current system lacks appropriate supporting information from the VOA 

justifying their valuation. It is also at odds with the current practice in the Rent Review market where 

an open exchange of information between the parties provides clarity and transparency.   

 

7) What impact do you think the ideas in this paper could have as a whole on the approach to 

challenging and appealing rateable values? 

Appeals are made when ratepayers have reason to believe the assessment is inaccurate. In the 

Netherlands after they transitioned from valuations on a five-year basis to annually they were able 

to reduce the number of appeals by 80 per cent and the costs of administration. If more frequent 

revaluations are introduced, the incentive to appeal is significantly reduced. This would lead to cost 

savings for businesses and the VOA. In addition to removing the incentive to appeal, careful 

consideration needs to be given to methods to provide ratepayers with assurance that there is no 

need to appeal. This can be best achieved by fuller early disclosure of rental evidence by the VOA. 

Further reform is needed of the current appeals process including clear separation of the roles of 

the VOA and the Valuation Tribunal for England (VTE). 

 

Backdating of rating assessments has proved contentious and inequitable on ratepayers in a 

number of scenarios and we would call on the Government to restrict the effective date of 

alterations to the rating list to 1 April of the current rating year. This approach would be more in line 

with the Government’s decision, coming into effect 1 April 2015, to limit backdating changes to 

assessments brought about by successful ratepayer appeals. 

8) What are your views on box 3.B in chapter 3 which sets out what a new system for 

challenging and appealing rateable values could look like? 

We support a review of the appeals process that would allow the challenger to outline their case 

and have discussions with the VOA prior to a formal appeal to the VTE. Many appeals could 

probably be avoided if the VOA was able to more freely share information indicating how a 

particular valuation was reached. A more transparent appeals process in Hong Kong has drastically 

reduced the number of challenges and appeals where in 2012/13 less than one per cent (.005%) of 

ratepayers formally appealed and just 2 per cent (2.09%) challenged assessments.3 

                                                           
3
 Better Rates for Better Business, British Property Federation, 

http://www.bpf.org.uk/en/files/bpf_documents/finance/Better_Rates_for_Better_Business_full_report.pdf 

Pack Page 104



6 
 

 

It has been suggested within the interim findings that 70 per cent of total appeals result in no 

change and that many do not state the reason for appeal. However, many appeals are withdrawn as 

a result of the VOA itself altering the rating list following negotiations or as a result of the appeal 

becoming ‘historic’ due to a further alteration by the VOA.  

 

It is also worth reviewing the procedure for refunding overpayments after ratepayers successfully 

appeal an assessment. Often ratepayers must wait long periods of time to be refunded large sums 

presently without interest paid. The current system is unfair to those found to have been paying 

more than their fair share which sometimes causes serious cash flow consequences. The same 

money could be invested in business improvements such as providing employment. 

 

9) Do you have examples of best practice ways to gather and share taxpayers’ property data 

that you would like the government’s information sharing forum to consider? 

We support the Government’s intent to change the law to allow greater sharing of information 

between the VOA and local government.  It is common at the moment for ratepayers to have to 

provide the same information about their business or property to both the VOA and the local 

authority. A gateway which may require further legislation needs to be developed enabling the VOA 

to share information with local authorities and vice versa. 

The BRC is pleased to have been invited to participate on the forum exploring the exchange of 

information. We recognise both the importance of safeguarding sensitive commercial information 

whilst ensuring ratepayers have access to information that may affect their individual valuation. 

Information should not be published for everyone to see, but it is reasonable for it to be made 

available to those it impacts earlier within the process. We are committed to remain actively 

engaged in how the current process can be improved.  

 

10) What is your view on the suggestion that ratepayers should be required by law to provide 

information about their property? 

It is important for information on properties to be made available to result in accurate valuations, but 

any requirement should be for ratepayers to share the relevant information voluntarily within a single 

submission and for billing authorities and the VOA to share the information with one another as 

necessary. We are not aware of problems of information not being submitted; therefore responding 

to requests for information should remain voluntary opposed to written in law. 

 

The Valuation Office has responsibility for maintaining a fair and accurate rating list and there are 

currently many avenues for the VOA and local authorities to consider appropriate changes that 

affect value. Requiring business to disclose information more than once would be an unnecessary 

burden. Local government already has access to a large amount of data on properties (based on 

planning, licensing, building control, etc.) therefore more should be done to bring this information 

together rather than placing additional burdens on ratepayers. 

  

Local authorities have a statutory duty to share information which may affect the accuracy of the 

rating list with the VOA. Perhaps there could be additional incentives for local authorities and the 

VOA to effectively share information with one another beyond local authorities’ direct interest in 

business rates growth in their area. There may also be the potential for local authorities and the 

Pack Page 105



7 
 

VOA to work more cooperatively. For instance, when inspections of the property are needed there 

could be just one opposed to the local authority and VOA conducting two separate inspections. 

On page 15 of the Government’s interim findings it suggests “making changes to the provision of 

rental information” to ensure accuracy and reduce the need for appeals. Further clarification is 

needed to determine what kind of information may be required beyond what government already 

has available to them. We look forward to engaging with the Government further through the 

information sharing forum and other avenues to ensure the need to make information related to a 

valuation available to appropriate parties whilst protecting sensitive commercial information. 

 

11) What are the practical steps government could take to make it easier to access 

information and how would you use that information? 

Effective IT infrastructure is needed to deal with the increased frequency of revaluations as the BRC 

proposes. Investment in greater data connectivity including a drive to online billing ensures 

enhanced accuracy and fairness. Further coordination between the VOA and billing authorities 

would also have the added benefit of making information more accessible.  

Some billing authorities’ recognition of the need for improving access to information has led them to 

consider developing their own portals, but in reality this is counterproductive for businesses or rating 

agents operating across multiple authorities. Instead, a single online portal perhaps hosted by HM 

Revenue and Customs (HMRC) which would enable ratepayers to visit one site and be able to 

access information on their properties across the 326 billing authorities should be considered. Set 

up costs for a central portal would include IT systems, software, support and training. 

 

12) Do you have further suggestions to add to the ideas listed in this paper which you think 

the government’s new billing and collection forum should consider? 

Suggestions outlined within the interim findings seem sensible. The most important element for 

billing and collection is for it to be clear and understandable. This could be assisted by a move to a 

more electronic process and potentially a central online portal where ratepayers could access billing 

information from all the relevant billing authorities in one place. Approximately one-third of billing is 

managed electronically suggesting there is ample room for improvement. Currently businesses 

often must have several different logins and passwords depending on the billing authority or worse 

yet receive excessive paperwork via post.  

 

13) What do you see as the main costs and benefits to your business/local authority of a 

more digital billing and collection system? 

Benefits of a digitised billing and collection system for businesses include bills arriving to the 

appropriate point of contact, ensuring bills are processed efficiently and eliminating unnecessary 

amounts of paperwork. Other than the upfront investment needed there is little downside and it 

would ultimately lead to long-term savings and improved satisfaction levels for all parties.  

A purely postal billing system seems unnecessarily antiquated. There are frequently occasions 

when erroneous bills arrive at a head office weeks after the due date. Despite individual billing 

authorities being responsible for collection there could potentially be a system in place for 

ratepayers operating across multiple billing authorities to share a single designated person and/or 

email address where all bills should be sent. The information could be shared and updated through 

Pack Page 106



8 
 

an intermediary such as HMRC, Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), HM 

Treasury or the VOA and made available to billing authorities, saving time and resources.  

 

14) What are your views on the key issues with billing that best practice guidance for 

standard and clear bills should address? 

It is important that information is clearly presented and that billing documents are easy to 

understand and follow. We recommend there be a single template including the same format of 

information and data to be used across all billing authorities enabling authorities to add their logo 

and contact information in the appropriate place. We see no reason for there to be varying billing 

forms across different authorities. These changes would assist billing authorities as well as make it 

simpler for ratepayers to process bills in a timely manner. In the past samples of good practice have 

been shared with DCLG which could be reviewed again if helpful. 

 

Contact Details: 

Jim Hubbard 

Policy Adviser, Local Government and High Streets 

0207 7854 8957 

jim.hubbard@brc.org.uk 

Pack Page 107



Rapporteur visits 12 February 

 

On 12 February 2015, Members of the Enterprise and Business Committee 

undertook a number of separate rapporteur visits to hear the views and experiences 

of stakeholders who work with people over 50 in helping them find employment 

and also to hear from employers who employ people aged over 50.  

 

Members of the Committee visited the following locations: 

 Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

 Pembrokeshire County Council 

 Working Links (Cardiff) 

 Wales TUC 

 NIACE Cymru  

 John Lewis (Cardiff) 

 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (BCUHB) is one of the largest employers in 

North Wales. In partnership with an external recruitment company, the health board 

endeavours to develop age-friendly initiatives to encourage new applicants over 50.  

It is the largest health organisation in Wales, providing a full range of primary, 

community, mental health and acute hospital services for a population of around 

676,000 people across the six counties of North Wales (Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, 

Denbighshire, Flintshire and Wrexham) as well as some parts of mid Wales, 

Cheshire and Shropshire. They employ around 16,100 staff and have a budget of 

around £1.2 billion.   

They are responsible for the operation of three district general hospitals (Ysbyty 

Gwynedd in Bangor, Ysbyty Glan Clwyd in Bodelwyddan and Wrexham Maelor 

Hospital) as well as 18 other acute and community hospitals and a network of over 

90 health centres, clinics, community health team bases and mental health units.  

The Health Board also coordinates the work of 115 GP practices and NHS services 

provided by North Wales dentists, opticians and pharmacies. 

 

Some of the areas discussed at the meeting included:  

 The Health Board as an employer of people aged over 50; 

 Recruitment of people over 50; 

 Barriers to employment for people over 50; 

 Any recommendations for the Welsh Government. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 108

Agenda Item 7.4



 

Pembrokeshire County Council 

Sarah Rochira, the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales presented Pembrokeshire 

County Council with a certificate in October 2014 to mark the Council's 

endorsement of the Dublin Declaration 2013. The Dublin Declaration takes forward 

the World Health Organisation's recommendation of creating Age Friendly 

Communities as well as the Welsh Government's Ageing Well in Wales programme, 

which aims to improve the wellbeing of those aged 50 plus.  

Age Friendly Communities  

Age Friendly Communities (AFC) was an Ireland - Wales INTERREG 4a funded project 

that is part-funded by the European Regional Development Fund. It brings together 

the following five partners in Ireland and Wales to develop intergenerational 

strategies (local and trans-national) and to pilot relevant activities:  

 Conway County Borough Council (Wales - Lead Partner) 

 Ageing Well Network (Ireland) - a not for profit organisation working with 

Kildare County Council 

 Isle of Anglesey Council (Wales) 

 Kilkenny County Council (Ireland) 

 Pembrokeshire County Council (Wales).    

The project objectives were to:  

 Create a vibrant community for all by supporting the development of 

intergenerational strategies on both cross-border and local levels;  

 Create cohesive communities through the implementation of pilot projects 

targeting the social inclusion of older people within society;  

 Capture, protect and preserve cultural heritage by reinforcing the positive 

image of older people within society;  

 Ensure well-being through encouraging lifelong learning activities. 

 

Some of the areas discussed at the meeting included:  

 Age Friendly Communities; 

 Pembrokeshire County Council as an employer of people aged over 50; 

 The Council’s recruitment of new employees over 50; 

 Barriers to employment for people over 50; 

 Any recommendations for the Welsh Government. 

 

 

Working Links 

Working Links is a UK wide public-private-voluntary company with shareholders. 

They say that since 2000, they have helped 30,000 people in Wales into 

employment.  

 

Pack Page 109



Since June 2011, Working Links Wales has been one of the two providers of Work 

Programme in Wales. They have 15 Working Links offices across Wales as well as 20 

partner premises that directly deliver Work Programme on their behalf such as 

Pembrokeshire College, Newport City Council, Torfaen Training, Remploy and 

Agoriad Cyf. 

 

Working Links is also responsible for Work Choice (for disabled benefit claimants), 

Community Work Placements (claimants post Work Programme) and a Flexible 

Support Fund (FSF) Contract in South East Wales for claimants from the start of their 

benefit claim and another FSF contract in Swansea in January 2015 focussed on post 

Work Programme support. In October 2014, Working Links was confirmed as the 

preferred bidders in Wales to run the Ministry of Justice’s Transforming 

Rehabilitation programme. 

 

Some of the areas discussed at the meeting included:  

 Barriers to employment for people over 50; 

 Support available to help people over 50 back into employment; 

 Recruitment of people over 50; 

 Any recommendations for Welsh Government. 

 

 

Wales TUC Cymru 

The Welsh Government provides the Wales TUC with guidance and financial support 

to help it extend learning opportunities, develop partnerships and maximise the 

impact of union learning representatives. Unionlearn is the learning and skills 

organisation of the TUC. It works to assist unions in the delivery of learning 

opportunities for their members as well as managing the Union Learning Funds 

(ULFs). 

 

Some of the areas discussed at the meeting included:  

 Training for people over 50; 

 Barriers to employment for people over 50; 

 Recruitment of people over 50; 

 Any recommendations for the Welsh Government. 

 

NIACE 

The National Institute of Adult Continuing Education (NIACE) is the national, 

independent organisation for adult learning in England and Wales. NIACE promotes 

the interests of all adult learners and potential learners, especially those who have 

benefited least from education and training. NIACE seeks to achieve this through: 

Pack Page 110



 Running high profile campaigns such as Adult Learners' Week, Sign Up 

Season and Taking Control;  

 Engaging local and national media;  

 Delivering high quality research, development and evaluation work;  

 Supplying expert consultancy, advice and support services;  

 Engaging policy makers;  

 Supporting networking with practitioners, policy-makers and researchers;  

 Publishing leading books and journals;  

 Disseminating specialist information; and  

 Providing flexible and personalised training courses. 

 

Some of the areas discussed at the meeting included:  

 Training for people over 50; 

 Barriers to training or employment for people over 50; 

 Any recommendations for the Welsh Government. 

 

John Lewis 

The John Lewis Partnership is a co-owned business. Every new recruit to John Lewis 

becomes a partner in the business, with a say in the running of the business and a 

share of the profits. John Lewis opened their Cardiff store in September 2009. At 

the time of opening, John Lewis, Cardiff employed over 800 people; it was the 

largest department store in Wales and the largest John Lewis store outside of 

London. 

 

Some of the areas discussed at the meeting included:  

 John Lewis’ partners who are aged over 50; 

 Recruitment of people over 50; 

 Barriers to employment for people over 50; 

 Any recommendations for the Welsh Government. 

Pack Page 111



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: William Graham AM, Chair, Enterprise and Business Committee 
CC: Dr Siân Phipps, Clerk, Enterprise and Business Committee,  
Rachel Jones, Deputy Clerk, Enterprise and Business Committee 
 

Re: Committee Inquiry on Employment opportunities for people over 

50 

3rd March 2015 

Dear  Chair, 

Following your evidence session with CollegesWales and WEA Cymru 

last week (25th February)1, I would like to clarify one issue regarding the 

development of an Older People’s Skills Strategy. Colleagues from 

CollegesWales and WEA Cymru mentioned that I would be developing 

and producing a Skills Strategy for Older People, in the context of Ageing 

Well in Wales. To clarify, the development of an Older People’s Skills 

Strategy is a Welsh Government commitment and stated in its Strategy 

for Older People 2013-23 (P20)2. It would be beneficial to align this 

Strategy with Ageing Well in Wales. 

As I mention in my written evidence3, the document has yet to be 

published and I would welcome an update from the Welsh Government on 

its development. I would welcome the opportunity to contribute to the 

much-needed Skills Strategy and recognise its value and contribution to 

the aims and outcomes of Ageing Well in Wales, particularly the 

Opportunities for Learning and Employment priority theme.   

                                                           
1
 http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=11339&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI21284  

2
 http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130521olderpeoplestrategyen.pdf  

3
 http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s35635/EBC4-03-

15%20p.1%20Older%20Peoples%20Commissioner%20for%20Wales.pdf  

Pack Page 112

Agenda Item 7.5

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=11339&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI21284
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130521olderpeoplestrategyen.pdf
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s35635/EBC4-03-15%20p.1%20Older%20Peoples%20Commissioner%20for%20Wales.pdf
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s35635/EBC4-03-15%20p.1%20Older%20Peoples%20Commissioner%20for%20Wales.pdf


 

 
 

Best wishes 

 

Sarah Rochira                                                                                                

Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 

Pack Page 113


	Agenda
	2 Business Rates Policy - Federation of Small Businesses
	3 Business Rates Policy - Ministerial Scrutiny
	5 Draft Report on Assisting Young People into Work
	6 Forward Work Programme
	7.1 Letter from Jane Hutt to William Graham regarding Business Rates Policy
	7.2 Written submission from the Welsh Retail Consortium
	7.3 The British Retail Consortium (BRC) response to the administration of business rates in England (interim findings)
	7.4 Summary of the rapporteur visits 12 February 2015
	7.5 Letter from The Older People's Commissioner for Wales to William Graham regarding the Older People's Skills Strategy

